

VILNIUS UNIVERSITY FACULTY OF MEDICINE

The final thesis

The Effect of Physical Exercises on Glucose Control in Patients with Type 1 Diabetes Mellitus. Literature Review.

Philipp Handwerk

Integrated studies

S1830303

VI Year

Institute of Clinical Medicine, Clinic of Internal Diseases and Family Medicine

Supervisor: Assoc. Prof. MD, PhD Žydrūnė Visockienė

Head of department: Assoc. Prof. Dr. MD, PhD Vytautas Kasiulevičius

Vilnius, 2025

Student's email: philipp.handwerk@mf.stud.vu.lt

Table of Contents

	Title page	1
1	. Introduction	5
2	. Methods	6
	2.1 Information Sources and Searching Strategy	6
	2.2 Inclusion criteria	6
	2.3 Exclusion criteria	6
	2.4 Study Selection and characteristics of the final included studies	7
	2.5 Software used to aid the review	8
3	. Research Results and Discussion	9
	3.1 Glycemic response to Regular Exercise in Patients with T1DM	9
	3.1.1 Changes in blood glucose levels	9
	3.1.2 Changes in HbA1c	10
	3.1.3 Other benefits	11
	3.2 Exercise types	11
	3.2.1 Aerobic training	11
	3.2.2 Anaerobic training	12
	3.2.2.1 Resistance training	12
	3.2.2.2 High Intensity Interval Training	12
	3.2.3 Advantages and disadvantages of each type	13
	3.2.3 Recommendations of the American Diabetes Association (ADA)	17
	3.3 Challenges T1DM patients are facing	18
	3.3.1 Fear of Hypoglycemia and Hypoglycemia	18
	3.3.2 Hyperglycemia	20
	3.3.3 Other challenges	20
	3.4 Recommendations for T1 diabetics to avoid hypo-/hyperglycemia	21

	3.4.1 Nutrition and carbohydrate intake	
	3.4.2 Insulin dose adjustment	24
3	3.5 Technology used to improve diabetes patients' glucose control	26
	3.5.1 Continuous glucose monitoring CGM	26
	3.5.2 Automated Insulin Delivery (AID)	27
	3.5.3 Loop Systems – Open vs. Closed	28
	3.5.4 Insulin pump systems	28
	3.5.5 Pump adjustments	. 30
	3.5.6 Use of wearables and advanced algorithms for optimization of glycemic control.	. 30
	3.5.7 Supportive applications	. 31
4.	Conclusion and Recommendations	33

Abbreviations and Definitions

ADA	American Diabetes Association
AHA	American Heart Association
AID	Automated insulin delivery
BGC	Blood glucose concentration
CL	Closed loop
CONT	Continuous moderate-intensity aerobic exercise
CSII	Continuous subcutaneous insulin infusion
DSS	Decision Support Systems
EB-HIIE	Elastic Bans- High Intensity Interval Training
GI	Glycemic Index
HIIT	high-intensity interval training
MARD	Mean absolute relative deviation
MDI	Multiple daily injections
OP	Open loop
SMBG	Self-Monitoring of Blood Glucose
T1DM	Type 1 Diabetes Mellitus

T2DM	Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus
TAR	Time above range, percentage of time blood glucose levels are above target range
TBR	Time blow range, percentage of time blood glucose levels are below target range
TIR	Time in range, percentage of time blood glucose levels are in target range
WHO	World Health Organization

Summary

Type 1 diabetes mellitus (T1DM) is a growing global health concern, particularly among younger populations, due to its autoimmune destruction of pancreatic β-cells, leading to insulin deficiency and serious complications if not properly managed. This review explores how regular physical exercise can positively impact glucose control in T1DM patients, despite the challenges they face, and aims to identify strategies to optimize exercise benefits through tailored insulin management, diet, and modern technology.

The literature review followed a systematic search strategy using PubMed, focusing on studies published between 2015 and 2025 that examined the relationship between T1DM, exercise, glucose control, and technology. After applying specific inclusion and exclusion criteria, and screening of 372 initial records, 92 relevant sources were selected for the final review.

Exercise in individuals with T1DM showed to improve short-term glycemic control by increasing time in target glucose range, while evidence on its long-term effect on HbA1c remains mixed. Different training modalities, particularly high-intensity interval training (HIIT) and continuous exercise, have been shown to impact glucose balance in individuals with type 1 diabetes, with HIIT offering more stable glucose levels and reduced hypoglycemia risk, while continuous exercise tends to lower glucose more significantly during and after activity. Despite the clear benefits of physical activity, many adolescents with type 1 diabetes remain inactive due to psychological barriers—particularly fear of hypoglycemia—as well as logistical, physiological, and technological challenges, all of which contribute to poorer glycemic control and reduced overall well-being. To manage exercise-induced glycemic fluctuations in type 1 diabetes, it is crucial to adjust carbohydrate intake based on pre- and post-exercise blood glucose levels, consume carbohydrate-rich foods with a high glycemic index for immediate glycogen replenishment, reduce insulin doses before and after prolonged exercise, monitor

glucose frequently, and consume a balanced pre-bedtime snack to prevent nocturnal hypoglycemia, while considering insulin sensitivity, exercise type, and the timing of meals. In recent years, there has been a significant advancement in the field of technology. These advancements have been particularly impactful in the realm of diabetes treatment. Continuous glucose monitoring systems (CGMs), artificial intelligence systems, insulin pumps and supportive applications have been shown to enhance glycemic control, particularly during physical activity.

Keywords

Type 1 diabetes mellitus, physical activity, glucose, hypoglycemia, hyperglycemia, insulin, nutrition, technology, challenges

1.Introduction

Type 1 diabetes mellitus (T1DM) is one of the most prevalent endocrine diseases on a global scale and the prevalence of T1DM is rising, especially in younger populations (1). While an estimated 8.4 million people worldwide were living with type 1 diabetes in 2021, it is predicted that this figure will rise to between 13.5 and 17.4 million by 2040 (2), thereby increasing the importance of understanding and treating the disease. T1DM is characterized by the autoimmune destruction of the endocrine β -cells of the pancreas (3). The resulting deficiency in insulin production and the consequent hyperglycemia can lead to microvascular damage, including retinopathy, neuropathy and nephropathy. In addition, macrovascular damage can result in the development of coronary heart disease and heart failure, as well as cerebrovascular events such as stroke. When treating T1DM patients, the main objective is to maintain optimal glucose control (4,5). Poorly monitored blood glucose levels and inadequate insulin therapy are known to increase the risk of developing those serious complications (3). Numerous studies have demonstrated that regular exercise can enhance both physical and mental well-being, thereby reducing the risk of various complications (6). Nevertheless, individuals diagnosed with MM face several challenges when it comes to implementing regular physical activity and are found to engage in less physical activity compared to healthy individuals (7). This review examines the physiological impact of exercise on patients with T1DM, the risk management of hypo- and hyperglycemia, and the possibilities and limitations of integrating modern technology. It will emphasize the importance of a precise and informed approach to exercise behavior in the management of T1DM, highlight the challenges faced by patients and the need for individualized education to facilitate a deeper understanding of personal glucose trends.

AIM: to provide an overview of studies published in recent years on the effect of physical activity on glycemic control in patients with type 1 diabetes. Special emphasis will be placed on approaches to improve glycemic control through dietary modification, insulin dose management and the use of modern technology.

2. Methods

This review was written following the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) scoping review guidelines.

2.1 Information Sources and Searching Strategy

The search was performed systematically by the author of this review. The main database used was PubMed. The search was restricted to studies published between 2015 and 2025. The search terms, using the Boolean operator AND included: T1DM AND Exercise AND Glucose control, T1DM AND Exercise AND Technology T1DM AND sensor AND activity and T1DM AND Anaerobic AND Aerobic.

2.2 Inclusion criteria

- All publications that were published between 2015 and 2025 that were including the keywords and evaluated at least one main point of interest: T1DM, exercise, technology, glucose control
- All types of studies were included: meta-analyses, systematic and narrative reviews, case reports, prospective and retrospective studies as well as cohort studies

2.3 Exclusion criteria

- Literature published before 2015
- Sources only referring to Type 2 diabetes Mellitus (T2DM) or not strictly differentiating from T1DM
- Data associated with the COVID-19 pandemic
- Data associated with pancreatic implantation

2.4 Study selection and characteristics of the final included studies

All search records were downloaded from the database until the 9th of April 2025. A total of 372 records from PubMed were identified. All records were uploaded to Zotero, an open-source reference management tool used to store, manage and cite bibliographic references such as books and articles. From the initial search, 56 duplicates were removed, leaving 316 articles. All the titles and abstracts were reviewed according to inclusion and exclusion criteria. Following the initial screening, 155 sources were excluded due to their irrelevance to the subject matter, 15 - because they focused on T2DM or did not differentiate between T2DM and T1DM, 11 - due to their relation to the COVID19 pandemic, 14 - because they were published before 2015 and 3 - due to their relation to pancreas transplants. Consequently, the complete text of 124 articles was assessed for eligibility. 32 of these were then excluded after reading through the full text due to their irrelevant results. Consequently, the final review incorporated a total of 92 sources. Figure 1 shows the PRISMA flow diagram for the screening process.



Figure 1: PRISMA flow diagram for the screening process.

2.5 Software used to aid the review

AI and other software were used to facilitate the review process. Zotero was chosen for reference management, Grammarly Premium for plagiarism check and both Grammarly Premium and DeepL were used as writing assistance.

3. Research Results and Discussion

3.1 Glycemic response to Regular Exercise in Patients with T1DM

3.1.1 Changes in blood glucose levels

In recent years, the positive effects of different types of training on physical and mental health have been the focus of intensive study for both people living with T1DM and healthy people. For individuals with diabetes, the emphasis has been particularly placed on the regulation of blood glucose levels. Numerous positive effects on the glucose balance during and after exercise in patients with type 1 diabetes have been demonstrated (8).

Riddell et al. (9) conducted a study to examine the 24-hour effect of exercise on glycemic control. Over a period of four weeks, patients with T1DM participated in various training programs, and a comparison was made between their blood glucose values on training days and those on days when no training was undertaken. The mean glucose levels on days of exercise were $8.66 \pm 2.50 \text{ mmol/l} (156 \pm 45 \text{ mg/dl})$, compared to $9.21 \pm 2.72 \text{ mmol/l} (166 \pm 49 \text{ mg/dl})$ on sedentary days. The time spent in the target range 3.89-7.77 mmol/l (70-140 mg/dl) was 6% higher on exercise days, Time below range (TBR) was 2,9% higher and Time above range (TAR) was 14% lower. Figure 2 from this study provides an overview of the blood glucose values comparing exercise days and sedentary days.



Figure 2: Stacked bar plot of average % time <54, <70, 70 to 180, >180, and >250 mg/dl on exercise versus sedentary days. Percent time <54 mg/dl is a subset of % time <70 mg/dl, while % time >250 mg/dl is a subset of % time >180 mg/dl. Due to skewed distribution, % time <70, <54, >180, and >250 mg/dl values were each censored at the 5th and 95th percentile (9).

These observations have been reported in other studies and meta-analyses as well (10,11).

3.1.2 Changes in HbA1c

Conversely, the findings concerning the impact of regular exercise on HbA1c are not consistent (12).

A meta-analysis performed by Chang et al (13) included 9 studies to analyze the effect of physical activity/exercise on cardiorespiratory fitness in children and adolescents with T1DM. Eight of the nine studies have analyzed the effect of exercise on HbA1c and only five of them showed a significant decrease in HbA1c after a long training period. The other studies reported no significant differences.

King et al (14) investigated the effects of physical activity in childhood and adolescence on HbA1s levels. They found that children who were active for 60 minutes on at least 3 days a week had significantly lower HbA1c levels compared to those who exercised for less than 3 days. An overview of the results of the study is shown in Figure 3. Bohn et al (15) also observed an inverse association between physical activity and HbA1c.



Physical Activity Groups Average HbA1c

* Significant difference between Group 1 and 2 (p < 0.05) and Group 1 and 3 (p < 0.05), but not Group 2 and 3 (p = 0.88).

Figure 3: Differences in HbA1c Across Physical Activity Groups (14)

3.1.3 Other benefits

In addition to the positive effects on the glucose balance, other studies have described further health-promoting effects such as improvements in levels of triglycerides, cholesterol, LDL cholesterol and HDL cholesterol (13). Furthermore, it has been demonstrated that patients who engage in regular physical activity exhibit enhancements in cardiovascular and cardiorespiratory fitness, increased muscle mass, and improved endothelial function (15,16). Subsequent studies examined the impact of consistent training on mental health. The results of these studies indicated that regular training had a positive effect on sleep quality, motivation, pain, emotional well-being and quality of life (17).

As the type of training has been shown to have a significant impact on metabolic effects in several studies, a discussion of the different types of training is included below.

3.2 Exercise types

3.2.1 Aerobic training

Aerobic training refers to sports in which energy is mainly generated by burning energy sources such as carbohydrates or lipids while consuming oxygen. Examples of aerobic training include running, cycling and swimming. It should be done with light or moderate intensity over a long time (>20-30 minutes). According to the American Heart Association (AHA), aerobic exercises should be carried out at an intensity where only 70-85% of the maximum heart rate is used.

The benefits of aerobic exercise are numerous and include improved cardiovascular fitness, increased myocardial oxygen capacity, reduced cardiovascular disease and lower arterial blood pressure (18). The World Health Organization (WHO) and AHA have set a recommendation of 150 minutes of aerobic exercise per week (19).

A meta-analysis performed by Garcia-Hermoso et al (20) showed that regular aerobic exercise has a moderate positive effect resulting in a greater TIR, reduction in HbA1c as well as improvement of cardiorespiratory fitness in children and adolescents with T1DM.

Other studies have shown a positive effect on HDL and LDL levels, as well as a reduction in arterial blood pressure and improved insulin sensitivity (21).

3.2.2 Anaerobic training

Anaerobic training, in contrast to aerobic training, does not rely on the use of oxygen for energy production. During high-intensity resistance training, the oxygen dissolved in the blood and available for energy production is often insufficient to meet the energy demands of the muscles. In the long term, anaerobic metabolism cannot provide as much energy as aerobic metabolism, but energy reserves can be released much more quickly. Anaerobic metabolism is primarily utilized at heart rates that exceed 85% of the maximum heart rate. Examples of anaerobic training include sprinting, strength training, and high-performance sports. Specifically, resistance training and high-intensity interval training as types of anaerobic exercise have been studied in recent years for their effects on patients with type 1 diabetes.

3.2.2.1 Resistance training

During resistance training, specific muscle groups are purposefully tensed and engaged in exercise. The utilization of tools such as weights, bands, or body weight can increase the intensity of the workout. Examples of resistance training include weightlifting, push-ups, squats, and pull-ups.

The benefits of this type of training include increased muscle strength, improved bone density, and, as a result, a reduced risk of injury (18). As people with T1DM are more susceptible to sarcopenia and loss of muscle mass, this form of exercise has a special role as it can be used for muscle mass building and maintenance (22,23). In addition, patients with type 1 diabetes are more susceptible to bone mineral density loss and developing osteoporosis due to more frequent hyperglycemic episodes than healthy individuals (24).

In addition to improvements in bone density and muscle mass, other effects such as improved lipid balance, improved vascular function, improved insulin sensitivity (25) and decrease in inflammatory markers (26) have also been demonstrated. Therefore, resistance training can help in the management of obesity, improve daily functionality, contribute to injury prevention, and help prevent cardiovascular disease (27).

3.2.2.2 High Intensity Interval Training

High-intensity interval training (HIIT) is a training method that involves alternating units of high-intensity and maximum strength with brief recovery periods. HIIT can be performed in a variety of ways. There are different recommendations regarding the number of sets, the duration of each set, and the number of intervals between sets. The effort phases of HIIT typically last

from 10 seconds to several minutes, while the recovery phases mostly last for 30 up to 60 seconds. The exercises to be performed during the effort phase can vary, but it is essential that they are executed with maximal intensity. Activities such as light running or passive rest are recommended during recovery phase (28). The popularity of HIIT training has grown in recent years due to its demonstrated superiority in enhancing health and metabolic outcomes in a shorter timeframe when compared to traditional endurance or strength training modalities (29). In a systemic review on the effects of HIIT interventions on cardiorespiratory fitness and glycemic parameters in adults with type 1 diabetes, Lazic et al. (10) summarized the results of 10 studies. The findings indicated that regular HIIT resulted in enhancements in cardiorespiratory fitness and a substantial reduction in 24-hour average glucose values. However, no reduction in HbA1c or fasting glucose levels was observed. Furthermore, the study revealed that the efficacy of HIIT in enhancing fitness and regulating glycemic parameters remained consistent across various parameters, including the duration of training, the duration of exercise, the peak intensity, and the time spent at the maximum intensity level. Other reported positive effects of HIIT training include improved VO2 max and cardiorespiratory health (30).

3.2.3 Advantages and disadvantages of each type

Of course, personal preferences play the most important role in the choice of training, but recent studies show a tendency towards better tolerability of interval training among patients with T1DM.

During aerobic exercise, energy production primarily relies on aerobic glycolysis within skeletal muscle, leading to a substantial increase in glucose demand. In individuals without T1DM, this elevated demand triggers a coordinated physiological response, including enhanced insulin sensitivity, upregulation of glucose transporter type 4 (GLUT4) translocation to the muscle cell membrane, and increased hepatic glucose output. These mechanisms collectively support efficient glucose uptake and utilization while simultaneously reducing the requirement for circulating insulin. To further safeguard against hypoglycemia, counter-regulatory hormones such as glucagon, epinephrine, cortisol, and growth hormone are mobilized to stimulate hepatic gluconeogenesis and glycogenolysis, ensuring adequate blood glucose levels during and after exercise.

Those mechanisms do not work quite as well individuals with T1DM, due to their dependence on exogenous insulin. The externally administered insulin- both basal and bolus- cannot be downregulated in real time, leading to persistently elevated circulating insulin levels during exercise. This condition suppresses hepatic glucose production and promotes excessive glucose uptake by muscle cells, markedly increasing the risk of hypoglycemia. Additionally, the impaired counter-regulatory hormone response in people with T1DM further compromises their ability to maintain euglycemia during prolonged or intense aerobic activity (31,32) Figure 4 from: Exercise-induced hypoglycaemia in type 1 diabetes. Experimental Physiology (Exercise-induced hypoglycaemia in type 1 diabetes. Experimental Physiology), provides a good overview on the physiological changes in healthy people and people with T1DM.



Figure 4: Physiological changes during exercise in healthy people and people with T1DM (33)

Conversely, HIIT stimulates catecholamine secretion (34), which in turn inhibits insulinmediated glucose uptake and promotes glucose production through gluconeogenesis. Consequently, this results in anaerobic glycolysis, elevated blood lactate levels, and a greater reliance on glucose without oxygen. These mechanisms help regulate blood sugar more effectively in individuals with T1DM, reducing the risk of hypoglycemia compared to moderate-intensity aerobic exercise (32).

The impact of distinct training modalities on glucose balance has been evidenced in numerous studies (35–37). Da Prato et al (38) investigated the plasma glucose levels of type 1 diabetics during continuous exercise in comparison to interval exercise. The study's findings revealed that plasma glucose levels remained comparable between the two groups during the exercise

periods. However, post-exercise plasma glucose levels were found to be significantly lower in the Continuous exercise group compared to the Interval exercise group ($-2.51 \pm 2.36 \text{ mmol/l}$ or $-45.3 \pm 42.5 \text{ mg/dl} \text{ vs} -1.38 \pm 2.2 \text{ mmol/l}$ or $-24.9 \pm 39.7 \text{ mg/dl}$).

A study performed by Martin San Augustin et al (39) compared the effects of two exercise protocols- elastic band high-intensity interval exercise (EB-HIIE) and continuous exercise (CONT)- on blood glucose levels in 39 men with T1DM. Each participant completed both sessions in a randomized order, separated by at least 72 hours. CONT led to significantly lower blood glucose levels than EB-HIIE, with notable differences during exercise (-1.95 mmol/l or -35.1 mg/dl), at the end (-2.75 mmol/l or -49.5 mg/dl), and at 10- and 20-minutes post-exercise (-2.85 mmol/l or -51.2 mg/dl and -2.55mmol/l or -45.9 mg/dl). EB-HIIE resulted in more stable glucose levels during and after exercise, with a TIR of 68.6% and minimal level 1 hypoglycemia (<1%). In contrast, CONT had a greater glucose-lowering effect, with a TIR of 62.8% and a 16.9% incidence of level 1 hypoglycemia. Figure 5 from this study was included in this review to visualize the results.



Figure 5: Glucose measurements during and immediately after exercise by CONT and EB-HIIT sessions. *Measured at 4 minutes of EB-HIIT (i.e., at the end of the first series) and at 20 minutes of CONT. †Significant differences (P < .05) between CONT and EB-HIIT. CONT, continuous moderate intensity aerobic exercise; EB-HIIT, elastic band high intensity interval training(39)

These findings support the conclusion that HIIT is an effective strategy for reducing (nocturnal) hypoglycemia. This phenomenon may also have influenced the quality of sleep in patients with T1DM (17).

The results of other studies demonstrated that high-intensity interval training (HIIT) exhibited a more favorable effect in reducing hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) levels, enhancing cardiovascular fitness, and decreasing the daily dose of insulin required under HIIT (20).

Another study investigated the effect of HIIT versus moderate intensity continuous training on endothelial function, oxidative stress, and fitness in patients with T1DM. While no significant differences were observed between the groups in terms of glycemic control, patients in the HIIT group demonstrated significantly improved endothelial function and higher levels of fitness compared to those in the moderate intensity continuous training group at the conclusion of the 8-week study period (16).

In a position statement by the Association for the Study of Diabetes and the International Society for Pediatric and Adolescent Diabetes (40), the following figure 6 can be found summarizing their findings on glucose response and recommendations for different types of exercises.

Exercise intensity and mode	Postpr continuous, prolonged aer low stress horr	andial, sustained, obic exercise; mone response	Mixed activity; Overnight fasted, individual and Explosive, team sports Overnight fasted,		
Average glucose response to exercise	\bigcirc	()	(\rightarrow)	\bigtriangledown	(\uparrow)
Exogenous insulin requirements around exercise	(\downarrow)		\bigcirc	\bigtriangledown	(\uparrow)
Carbohydrate intake requirements around exercise	(\uparrow)	$\overline{\langle}$	\bigcirc		\bigcirc

Figure 6: Graphical Summary from Moser et al., The use of automated insulin delivery around physical activity and exercise in type 1 diabetes: a position statement of the European Association for the Study of Diabetes (EASD) and the International Society for Pediatric and Adolescent Diabetes (ISPAD) (40)

A summary of studies analyzing glycemic response to exercise is presented in the Supplementary Table 1.

Despite these findings, interval training does not appear to have been incorporated into the recommendations of the American Diabetes Association (ADA).

3.2.3 Recommendations of the American Diabetes Association

The following is a summary of the ADA's recommendations for physical activity in people with type 1 diabetes (41). Prolonged seated activities should be interspersed with at least one 30-minute interval for brief physical activity breaks.

For adolescents with T1DM, the recommendation is to engage in a minimum of 60 minutes of moderate-to-vigorous intensity physical activity, three days per week. This activity should be

focused on enhancing muscle and bone strength and should be at least moderate or vigorous in nature.

For adults with T1DM, the recommended weekly volume of aerobic exercise is 150 minutes of moderate or vigorous intensity. This activity should be distributed across at least three days, with no more than two consecutive rest days. Alternatively, 75 minutes of interval training is sufficient for healthy and fit young adults. 2-3 sessions of resistance training per week on non-consecutive days are also recommended.

For patients who are older or more fragile, it is recommended that they engage in flexibility and balance training two to three times per week. Integrating yoga and Tai Chi into the training regimen is also beneficial.

3.3 Challenges T1DM patients are facing

As demonstrated in the earlier chapter, regular physical activity has a positive effect on glycemic control, fitness and health in people with T1DM. However, studies have repeatedly demonstrated that teenagers with T1DM move significantly less and sit more than their peers without diabetes (7). No difference could be found between overweight and normal-weight type 1 diabetics, both failing to meet the recommendations (42). Such lack of exercise leads to increased HbA1c and an increased incidence of comorbidities (14,43). As many adolescents with T1DM do not meet the recommendations for daily exercise, their increased sitting time correlates with poorer glycemic status. That does not only lead to a decreased physical wellbeing but has also a significant impact on their psychological health (44). Inactive adolescents report more symptoms of anxiety, stress, and depression (43).

The following discussion outlines the potentially underlying factors that may have contributed to these observations and potentially explain the noticed behavior.

3.3.1 Fear of Hypoglycemia and Hypoglycemia

One of the possible reasons could be the fear of hypoglycemia (FoH). It is often the leading psychological barrier that limits regular physical activity among people with type 1 diabetes (45). Exercise-related hypoglycemia is one of the most common complications in T1DM patient physical activity and often occurs even in well-controlled patients (33). It was mentioned that aerobic exercise can increase glucose uptake in working muscles up to fivefold and additionally increase insulin sensitivity, which potentially causes hypoglycemia both during and after exercise (5,46).

In the T1DEXIP study (47), 251 adolescents were observed over 10 days under real world conditions. Patients with lower HbA1c values showed lower glucose values after exercise. The further the glucose levels fell during exercise, the lower they were post-exercise. This effect was observed for 12 to 16 hours after the end of exercise until the glucose levels slowly increased again. Another study shows similar results (48). Lower baseline glucose values represent a risk for hypoglycemia after exercise (49). Therefore, in the case of severe hypoglycemia, exercise should not be started in the last 24 hours in order to avoid subsequent hypoglycemia (33).

On the other hand, the occurrence of nocturnal hypoglycemia after an exercise day is described in various studies as higher than on sedentary days: 14% on exercise days vs 12% on sedentary days (47), 20% on exercise days vs. 12% on sedentary days (50). McCarthy et al (49) observed only 6% of time spend in hypoglycemia after 9 consecutive days of cycling. In addition, the occurrence of nocturnal hypoglycemia is associated with an increased risk of hypoglycemia on the following day (49).

Next to that, there were greater glycemic variations observed overnight after an exercise day compared to sedentary days. Type 1 diabetics are therefore more vulnerable to hypoglycemia and changes in glucose levels, which requires increased monitoring of glucose levels after exercise (51).

The length of exercise also appears to have an important influence, as hypoglycemic episodes were observed more frequently when exercise was performed for more than 60 minutes or longer than individual sessions (47).

McCarthy et al (52) investigated further metabolic changes in 13 type 1 diabetics who completed 45 minutes of exercise. Metabolic data of patients who had hypoglycemia after exercise were compared with those of patients in euglycemia. It was found that hypoglycemia also triggers other stress mechanisms that could mask possible hypoglycemia symptoms.

The anxiety to experience hypoglycemic symptoms generates a permanent mental load that makes it challenging to integrate spontaneous or regular exercise into everyday life. In a study of Vlcek et al. (53), using semi-structured interviews, all 15 adult participants described FoH as a constant mental load during exercise planning, influencing spontaneity and willingness to be active. Because people avoid physical activity, therapy decisions are often shaped by safety considerations, such as excessive insulin protection or the deliberate avoidance of exercise (43,54,55).

3.3.2 Hyperglycemia

In addition to hypoglycemic states, hyperglycemic episodes can also be observed on repeated occasions (31,56). To meet glucose needs during exercise, counterregulatory hormones such as the catecholamines adrenaline and noradrenaline and glucagon are released. These hormones lead to increased glucose production in the liver through gluconeogenesis and glycogenolysis. This effect occurs especially during intense and prolonged exercise (57). Normally, the increased release of insulin during exercise would lead to increased glucose uptake in muscle cells. However, in type 1 diabetics, insulin secretion and sensitivity are reduced, which can lead to hyperglycemia (58).

This effect may be intensified if exercise is performed in the fasting state or if high carbohydrate or low insulin are consumed prior to exercise to avoid hypoglycemia (59).

In contrast to the existing body of literature addressing hypoglycemia during physical activity, there is a lack of studies addressing hyperglycemia during exercise sessions, and therefore few recommendations for the prevention and management of hyperglycemia (60).

However, it has been shown that short-term hyperglycemic episodes have fewer effects on health than hypoglycemia. In a meta-analysis conducted by McGuire et al.(59), the effect of hyperglycemia on sports performance was investigated. The analysis encompassed a total of seven studies, which collectively included 119 patients. The findings of this meta-analysis indicated that mild to moderate hyperglycemia during exercise can be considered safe, which was confirmed by another study as well (61). Furthermore, the analysis revealed that blood glucose levels ranging from 7.1 to 13.9 mmol/l (128–250 mg/dl) exhibited no significant impact on performance outcomes.

3.3.3 Other challenges

A qualitative study published in 2023 utilized structured interviews to inquire about the exercise routines of patients with type 1 diabetes (53). This study offers insights into the various challenges patients are facing.

Many participants emphasized the additional time required to prepare for training. It is always necessary to ensure that the blood glucose level is sufficiently high to avoid hypoglycemia, and that sufficient insulin or carbohydrates are available to counteract blood sugar fluctuations. The study noted that spontaneous activities were either not feasible or required significant effort.

The need to develop individual solutions was also identified, as existing guidelines do not meet the patients' requirements. However, these solutions were only effective for a limited time and required constant modifications.

Following the release of continuous glucose monitors, the implementation of regular training became more feasible for many individuals. However, this transition was concomitant with increased financial expenditures and concerns regarding theft. Furthermore, not all devices and pumps can be discreetly worn under light sportswear, which can be embarrassing for many diabetics.

Even in high-performance sport, athletes are repeatedly confronted with the challenges of type 1 diabetes (55).

However, the psychological stress and the fear of (nocturnal) hypoglycemic episodes, which prevent many patients from exercising on a regular basis, should be emphasized again (62). The following sections provide a summary of recommendations from the literature to counteract these hypoglycemic episodes.

3.4 Recommendations for T1 diabetics to avoid hypo-/hyperglycemia

3.4.1 Nutrition and carbohydrate intake

In order to reduce the risk of hypoglycemia and hyperglycemia, it is important to consider carbohydrate intake before and after exercise. The type, length and intensity of training should be taken into account. For exercise of greater intensity and duration, elevated glucose intake is necessary for energy production. The prevailing glucose levels and the most recent insulin administration must also be considered, as circulating insulin causes greater amounts of glucose to be absorbed by the muscles, which can increase the risk of hypoglycemia (63).

A comprehensive literature review was conducted by Moser et al. (64) to determine the optimal glucose levels at which carbohydrate intake should be initiated, depending on pre-exercise glucose levels and the type of exercise: <7.0 mmol/l (<126 mg/dl) for adults with type 1 diabetes, intensively exercising and/or with low risk of hypoglycemia; <8.0 mmol/l (<145 mg/dl) for adults with type 1 diabetes, moderately exercising and/or with moderate risk of hypoglycemia, or for older adults with coexisting chronic illnesses and intact cognitive and functional status; <9.0 mmol/l (<161 mg/dl) for adults with type 1 diabetes, minimally exercising and/or with high risk of hypoglycemia.

The most common recommendation is to consume carbohydrates to provide extra energy. Carbohydrate-rich foods can raise blood glucose levels at different rates after ingestion. Glucose, for instance, has been demonstrated to be utilized more efficiently and rapidly than fructose and lactose, and is therefore most likely to be recommended during acute hypoglycemic episodes (56). The glycemic index (GI) is a measure of how quickly and strongly a carbohydrate-containing food causes blood sugar levels to rise, with glucose set as a reference value of 100. Carbohydrates with a GI <100 result in a more gradual increase in blood glucose levels, while those with a GI >100 led to a rapid rise. As previously mentioned, carbohydrates with a high GI are suitable in acute hypoglycemic phases, while carbohydrates with a low GI are more suitable during prolonged training or after training to avoid post-exercise hyperglycemia(65).

In 2022, the Brazilian Diabetes Society issued a recommendation on carbohydrate intake depending on the baseline blood glucose value. Figure 7, which contains these recommendations from this work (67), is shown below.

Glycemia (mg/dL)	Recommendation		
< 90	Intake 15-30g of carbohydrate before exercise, especially		
	when performing longer exercises (>30-45min).		
	Consume carbohydrate from the beginning of exercise (0.5-		
90 - 150	1.0g/kg/hour). Depending on the type of exercise and the		
	amount of circulating insulin.		
151 - 250	Start exercising and delay carbohydrate intake until blood		
	glucose levels are lower than 150 mg/dL.		
	Test for ketones if available, and do not exercise if moderate		
251 - 350	to large amounts are present. Mild to moderate intensity		
	exercise may be performed.		
	Test for ketones, if available, and do not exercise if moderate		
	to large amounts are present. If ketones are negative (or		
> 350	only trace levels), consider correcting blood glucose levels		
	with lower doses of insulin (50% of the dose). Avoid exercise		
	until blood glucose levels are lowered.		

Figure 7: Conduct recommendation based on pre-exercise glucose levels on T1DM (67)

In a study by Patton et al. (68) on 208 adolescents with type 1 diabetes (mean age 14 years, mean HbA1c 7.1%), glycemic variability in the three hours following meals was measured using standard deviation (SD) and coefficient of variation (CV). The findings of this study indicated that carbohydrate-rich meals were associated with increased postprandial variability, while fat- and protein-rich meals, after adjustment for carbohydrate content, were associated with reduced variability (particularly for fat, both standard deviation [SD] and coefficient of variation [CV], and for protein, only SD).

According to different studies (67), it is generally recommended to check blood glucose levels more frequently before, during, and after training. This practice allows for the detection of trends at an early stage and facilitates timely reactions. This is of particular importance given that insulin sensitivity can remain elevated for up to 48 hours following exercise (31,69).

The replenishment of depleted glycogen stores after training is similarly relevant (56). It has been shown that consuming larger amounts of carbohydrates after exercise can be beneficial but is dependent on insulin availability (70). Foods with a high glycemic index, such as bananas, are particularly suitable for replenishing glycogen stores directly after training (64). To avoid nocturnal hypoglycemia, it is also advisable to eat a snack consisting of protein, fat and carbohydrates before going to bed.

In the Position of Brazilian Diabetes Society on exercise recommendations (49), a recommendation for carbohydrate intake based on post-exercise sensor glucose measurements can be found as well.

A summary of studies analyzing *the recommendations on carbohydrate intake and nutrition during physical exercise* is presented in Supplementary Table 2.

3.4.2 Insulin dose adjustment

As with carbohydrate intake, recommendations for insulin dose adjustments vary depending on several factors. These include the spontaneous or planned nature of the training, the type, duration, and intensity of the exercise, and the device used for glucose measurements. Elevated insulin levels during physical activity led to increased glucose uptake by muscle cells, resulting in hypoglycemia. It is therefore recommended that the basal insulin rate be reduced and/or the bolus insulin rate be adjusted prior to periods of prolonged exercise (71).

Romeres et al (61) investigated the impact of varying glucose and insulin levels on blood glucose levels during moderate endurance training. Participants with T1DM were divided into three groups: Normoglycemia + low insulin levels, Moderate increased glucose + low insulin levels, Moderate increased glucose + increased insulin levels. This study aimed to assess the body's response to the training, with a particular focus on its endogenous glucose production (EGP). The results indicated that hyperinsulinemia, hinders the natural release of glucose from the liver (EGP) during training, even when insulin levels are only moderately elevated. Moderately elevated glucose alone was unproblematic as long as insulin levels were low. Consequently, it can be concluded that the increased amount of insulin is a risk factor for hypoglycemia. It is, therefore, safer to exercise with slightly elevated blood sugar and low insulin than with normal blood sugar and high insulin levels.

McCarthy et al. (72) investigated how bolus insulin adjustments before activity can reduce postexercise and night-time hypoglycemia. 16 participants with type 1 diabetes were divided into 2 groups. One group received a regular insulin dose (100%) and the other group a reduced insulin dose (50%) with insulin apart one hour before and one hour after 45 minutes of moderate exercise. Reducing the insulin dose by 50% before exercise reduced the risk of hypoglycemia during exercise, while a corresponding adjustment after exercise reduced the risk of nocturnal hypoglycemia. The combination of both strategies led to increased glucose levels after exercise and at night, but without severe hyperglycemia. These results suggest that targeted bolus insulin adjustments around physical activity may be a safe measure to prevent hypoglycemia.

A number of studies have also investigated the effects of bolus reduction of the meal for exercise (71,73,74). Depending on the study, the temporary bolus rate can be reduced by up to 80% (75).

It is important, however, that a meal should be taken before exercise and that there should be no long intervals >90 minutes between meal and exercise to avoid hypoglycemia (11). In the absence of a meal prior to exercise, a 50% to 80% reduction in basal insulin rate can be considered (65,76). However, this adjustment is recommended 90 minutes prior to training (64). Furthermore, in instances where individuals engage in prolonged training sessions or multiple training sessions over the course of a day, a reduction in basal insulin rate of 20 to 80% can be effective (67,77,78).

The type of training is a contributing factor in this regard as glucose levels can also rise during anaerobic training. For this reason, a reduction in insulin doses should only be undertaken with caution (65).

Moser et al (64) developed diabetes specific recommendations for each of the most relevant pumps and different exercise types. In figure 8 of "2022: Position of Brazilian Diabetes Society on exercise recommendations for people with type 1 and type 2 diabetes" (67), a recommendation is made how to reduce bolus insulin doses for meals administered 90 minutes before nutrition intake.

Recommendation to decrease insulin bolus on meals that precede exercise by up to 90 min for T1DM

Physical Exercise Intensity	30 min duration	60 min duration
Light Aerobic (~ 25% VO2 max)	- 25%	- 50%
Moderate Aerobic ($\sim 50\%$ VO2 max)	- 50%	- 75%
Intense Aerobic (70–75% VO2 máx)	- 75%	NA
Intense Aerobic/Anaerobic (>80% VO2 máx)	No reduction	NA

NA Not available

Source: Adapted of Colberg [5] and Yardley [15]

Figure 8: from 2022: Position of Brazilian Diabetes Society on exercise recommendations for people with type 1 and type 2 diabetes(67). The table provides information on insulin bolus reduction depending on duration and intensity of the physical training. (67)

A summary of stydies analyzing the recommendations for insulin dose adjustment during physical exercise is presented in Supplementary Table 3.

3.5 Technology used to improve diabetes patients' glucose control

Technological progress has become increasingly significant in recent years, especially with recent advances in the field of artificial intelligence. This modernization is also evident in the field of diabetology.

3.5.1 Continuous glucose monitoring CGM

CGM technologies are typically categorized into real-time CGM (rtCGM), intermittently scanned CGM (isCGM), and implantable systems. Nearly all CGM systems measure glucose levels in real-time and provide sensor glucose data, while isCGM systems measure at the time of scanning with the reading device. It is important to understand that interstitial glucose sensing has a physiological lag and damping compared to blood glucose (64). This difference must be considered as it influences sensor glucose measurement accuracy against blood glucose values. This observation is nicely illustrated in Figure 9 by Da Prato et al. (2022) (38). In their

study, all participants with T1DM used pumps integrated with CGM systems during aerobic continuous and anaerobic interval exercises. The results revealed that during the continuous workout the CGM sensors significantly overestimated plasma glucose levels (with a Sensor Bias of 38.5 ± 27.1 mg/dl or 2.14 MMOL/L ± 1.51 mmol/l)

and a MARD of 31.1%, indicating reduced accuracy.) Such discrepancy can mislead the pumps algorithms or the patient into under-correcting high glucose levels, increasing the risk of exercise-induced hyperglycemia. These results demonstrate how sensor inaccuracies during continuous exercise can unintentionally contribute to poor glycemic outcomes.

The most frequently described devices are the Dexcom G4, G5, G6 and G7 version, Medtronic Guardian 3 sensor, Medtronic Enlite / Enlite 2 and the Freestyle Navigator II .

In the study by Moser et al (2020) (64), most of the devices were tested using the mean absolute relative deviation (MARD) metric. The findings of this study indicated a trend towards increasing quality due to the higher measurement accuracy and lower MARD of the newer devices.



Figure 9. Plasma and interstitial glucose changes in the exercise sessions. During moderate continuous (CON) (a) and interval exercise (IE) (a) (38)

3.5.2 Automated Insulin Delivery (AID)

Automated insulin delivery systems (AIDs) are a significant advancement in the management of T1DM. These systems consist of three essential components: a continuous glucose monitor (CGM), an insulin pump, and a control algorithm. Combined, they form an integrated feedback loop and collaborate to autonomously calibrate insulin delivery in accordance with real-time glucose measurements, ensuring blood glucose levels remain within safe parameters with minimal user intervention. Bombaci et al. (79) state that "Automated insulin delivery (AID) systems are therapeutic tools that get closer to the idea of the artificial pancreas." More recently, systems such as the MiniMed 780G not only automatically deliver basal insulin but can also automatically deliver correction boluses and enable individual glucose targets. As indicated by the authors, this increased flexibility supports stricter glucose control while reducing the user's workload. AID systems assist users in maintaining stability, particularly in their active daily lives. However, meals and correction boluses still require user input, highlighting that while automation is advanced, it is not yet fully autonomous.

3.5.3 Loop Systems - Open vs. Closed

Understanding AID also requires distinguishing between different types of loop systems it may operate on. These include Open Loop Systems (OLS) and Closed Loop Systems (CLS). Using OLS the user maintains complete control over insulin delivery by receiving glucose data from the CGM and deciding manually on insulin dosing. The system does not automatically adjust insulin, what makes them less dynamic than hybrid or closed-loop approaches, particularly in physically active individuals (64).

In CLS insulin adjustments are executed autonomously based on CGM data. The evolution from OLS to CLS is what makes AID so promising, moving from manual decision-making to intelligent, adaptive insulin management. Closed-loop insulin therapy improves glycemic control in adolescents and young adults while reducing hypoglycemia during and after physical activities as the meta-analysis of Jabari shows (79,80).

3.5.4 Insulin pump systems

Insulin pumps are small portable devices that deliver a continuous subcutaneous insulin infusion (CSII) through a small catheter and allow for personalized basal and bolus insulin dosing.

The basal rate can be individually adjusted to the sleep schedule, meals and physical activity, while bolus doses can be administered in real time to correct hyperglycemia or cover carbohydrate intake. This constant infusion of insulin throughout the day is accompanied by one-time doses called boluses.

A lot of the newer pumps come with special features like a temporary basal rate, bolus calculators or extended bolus options that are supposed to help the patient increasing their TIR throughout the day. Some of them also come with specialized modes, for example the exercise mode of the t:slim X2 which increases their flexibility and is supposed to help reducing the risk of hypoglycemia during and after aerobic exercise (40)

These possibilities reduce the patients fear of hypoglycemia and support them into safer engagement to do sports with ultimately improves the patient's glucose stability. Unfortunately, if not timed well, such settings can also create challenges like the increased risk of hyperglycemia. The disadvantage of these devices is that they must be carried around by and attached to the patient, which can cause uncomfort, a concern about their body image or adverse skin reactions to infusion set adhesives. Furthermore, achieving long TIR demands active participation in the process by the patient. They must respond to system alerts, refill the insulin reservoir, charge the pumps battery monitor glucose consistently and manage technical issues like infusion set malfunctions (66).

Despite all those challenges, new pumps- especially those integrated in a hybrid closed loop system- will further help improving glycemic control through automatic meal bolus when integrated carefully into lifestyle and exercise routines (6).

The pump systems can be divided into the categories tubed or tubeless.

Some devices like the Tandem t: slim X2 or the MiniMed 780G function tubed as they have an external injection sight patched to them that is connected to their pump via tubing.

Other devices like the Omnipod DASH, Omnipod 5, Wellion Micro Pump or the Medisafe WITH attach their cannula right under the so called "patch pump" itself.

Due to their tubeless design no extra infusion set is necessary. This is not only great for the environment but also allows more freedom of movement during exercises. They were tested to have significant advantages over the tubed kind like significant reduced time of initiation which increases efficiencies and reduces workloads (81).

Such systems are not only a tubeless but also waterproof patch pump, praised for its discreet design which makes them even more convenient when showering, swimming, or during exercise or sex, as the risk of tangling, catching, or pulling the tube when moving is reduced (82).

They also help with other challenges some patients are facing, like insecurities regarding selfawareness about insulin delivery in public due to their discreetness (83).

3.5.5 Pump adjustments

To achieve a sufficient glycemic control and an accomplish a long TIR the patient must actively participate in the adjustment of the pump setting while exercising. Exercise type, duration, and timing affect sensor reliability and insulin strategy, which requires patient input and preplanning to achieve a sufficient glycemic control. Such efforts can be very challenging for patients. For this reason, Moser et al. (40) have conducted a positions statement in which they have given recommendations for glucose management around physical activity and exercise with the currently most relevant pumps (iLet Bionic Pancreas system; mylife CamAPS FX system; DBLG1 system; Omnipod 5 system; MiniMed 780G system; t:slim X2 Control-IQ system). For each of them they illustrated how to exactly set the pumps mode designed for while exercising. Additionally, they show what settings to put for either planned or unplanned training.

3.5.6 Use of wearables and advanced algorithms for optimization of glycemic control

The use of wearables in T1DM care is becoming more interesting particularly as more variables that reflect metabolic states during exercise or stress become measurable by these portable non-invasive devices. Daskalaki (84) conducted an extensive review of noninvasive wearable sensor technologies and their application to T1DM management. They explained that variables like heart rate, respiratory rate, oxygen saturation, skin temperature, electrochemical skin conductance, and galvanic skin response can be used for further optimization of T1DM treatment. Additionally, body motion can be assessed with the use of an Accelerometer or Gyroscope. Most recent devices are even able to provide an ECG cardiac state, such as heart rate variability and QT interval. Even though we can still see some challenges in the use of wearables like due to motion artifacts, signal noise or complex glucose-physiology interactions, adding such additional markers to CMGs could help detecting and predicting glucose changes earlier.

Being able to predict physiological delays in the production of insulin after increasing blood glucose and in the effect of insulin on inhibition of blood glucose is key as Vosoughi et al. (85) show in their analytical study. Mathematical modeling of all the variables, modern wearables can detect nowadays, is necessary for the integration into current systems that are only detecting insulin-glucose dynamics.

A great example of how this could be achieved is the mvAID system developed by Askari et al. (86). It uses multivariable model artificial intelligence algorithms that incorporates inputs such as heart rate, energy expenditure, skin temperature, and electrodermal activity from a wrist-worn wearable. These should automatically detect physical activity and adapt the patient's insulin delivery accordingly. Their in-silico study had great results and significantly increase the safety and efficacy of insulin delivery in the presence of unannounced physical activities and meals.

3.5.7 Supportive applications

Besides hardware devices like sensors, pumps or wearables improving the diabetic patient's everyday life, also software like machine learning algorithms or apps might revolutionize the treatment approach as well.

For example, McGaugh et al. (87) developed an Exercise Advisor App, an app, based on the consensus guidelines that helps T1DM patients by managing their glucose levels peri-exercise. The patients needed to input their key data, like what kind of delivery was used and the glucose levels and the app was able to provide personalized guidance on insulin dosing, a post-exercise guidance, and a learned patterns log for reviewing previous workouts for them.

This app was one of the first of its kind and started out with a whole new approach to overcome challenges that patients with T1DM might experience. These are as we have discussed earlier already especially important for children and adolescents with T1DM as they are known to be less active, more sedentary, and therefore less fit than healthy people of the same age. As already discussed before research has revealed that children and adolescents living with T1DM do not typically meet the time of exercise recommended guidelines of physical activity (88). It is therefore vital that barriers are overcome in the patients' early years to ensure long-term health. For this reason, for the following apps were encompassed in which the youth was focused to help them with their exercise regime.

In Diactive-1 study by Hormazábal-Aguayo et al., the effectiveness of the Diactive 1 application for a 24-week exercise intervention in children and adolescents with T1DM was evaluated. Participants were randomly assigned to either the app or the control group. The app group received a training program tailored to the participants, while the control group received standard care. The app provided individual resistance training plans with integrate educational support for insulin and carbohydrate management based on each participant's fitness level,

glucose values and trend data. Integrated education tools provided guidance on when to train safely, while gamification elements such as promotions and rankings promoted consistent use. They tried to figure out if the use of the app is significantly reducing the daily insulin requirement per kilogram of body weight. Unfortunately, results are not published yet (89).

Another study by Shetty et al. describes a similar application called the acT1ve app, which was developed by a user-centered co-design in an 18-month process with more than 60 Adolescents and young adults with T1DM between the age of 13 and 25 and their parents to support the safety in young patients' physical activity. Focus groups were formed, design workshops held, and lots of feedback provided by the patient, their parents and physicians to ensure that the app addresses the real-world exercise challenges faced by young people with T1DM. The resulting app contains personalized training instructions based on user input such as activity type, glucose levels, insulin timing, and carbohydrate intake. A Key element of acT1ve is the Training Advisor algorithm, which generates individualized insulin and carbohydrate recommendations. A pilot experiment involving 10 participants, who had not attended any of the participatory design workshops, demonstrated a high level of satisfaction, user-friendliness, and confidence in secure training management with the app (90).

Such mHealth applications are a great example of the possibilities and the potential of optimization in diabetes treatment are for the future. They might not only help the patients providing a safe educated way of exercise.

Also, they show that communication between patients, their parents and their physicians and lead to great achievements.

Another good example how important communication is for T1DM patients is the study by Morrow et al. (88) in which 29 participants with T1DM used the Application Photovoice over 6 months to gain a better understanding of their and others experiences of technology and physical activity. The authors noted that overcoming barriers during the early years is critical for long-term health. Therefore, it is important to understand how such technology fits into young people's daily routine to design effective tools. So, they used Photovoice to explore how adolescents with T1DM and their parents experience the role of technology in engaging with physical activity and exercise. The participants were sharing photos and reflections in form of texts about experiences.

After analysis of the co-researchers using the 'PHOTO' mnemonic, these posts were categorized in benefits of technology, complexity and difficulty, emotional impact, reliance and risk.

In benefits the patients especially appreciated the passive features like AI controlled dose adjustments as well as the technology itself like CGM, insulin pumps that help them to be more free and less fearful during physical activity and exercise.

One difficulty was adolescents trying to be independent from their parents during such activities and the tension created due to the gatekeeping effect of them by acting protective and reminding to check for their glucose level.

Also, in the section of emotional impact, despite technological assistance, parents were observed with significant emotional distress, as they were concerned regarding hypoglycemia or technical malfunctions. Such malfunctions were finally pointed out together with deliberate alarms in reliance and risk again. These were leading to ignoring or even silencing their alarm and great frustration.

4. Conclusion and Recommendations

Regular exercise demonstrated to enhance glycemic control in individuals with type 1 diabetes, to extend the time in range, to reduce the risk of comorbidities, and to have a positive effect on mental health. However, the impact of exercise on blood glucose levels can be influenced by various factors, including the type of exercise, duration, intensity, and personal metabolic status. Despite the documented benefits for health, studies have shown that type 1 diabetics engage in less exercise than their healthy peers. The most common reason given is the fear of hypoglycemic episodes that may occur during or after exercise. To reduce the risk of hypoglycemia, people with type 1 diabetes must consider many factors, including their physical condition, current blood glucose levels, previous insulin doses, and diet. Several recommendations exist for carbohydrate intake and insulin dose adjustment before and after exercise. However, studies have demonstrated that patients must develop customized routines to ensure optimal outcomes. The recently developed technologies have been well-received by patients and have made a substantial contribution to glucose control in type 1 diabetes. However, there is a limited body of research examining how well these devices perform during exercise. The existing studies have identified discrepancies between interstitially measured

glucose and plasma glucose values. The use of newer technologies, smart devices and AI may help to predict individual metabolic situations and implement individualized therapies in the future.

It is not possible to formulate a universally applicable recommendation for glucose control during exercise for individuals with type 1 diabetes. The determination of the appropriate exercise type and duration is dependent upon a comprehensive evaluation that encompasses the glycemic response, the physical condition of the patient.

Individualized education is imperative for patients with T1DM, as their glycemic responses to exercise and insulin needs can vary significantly. Consequently, patients should be counseled by their physician to ensure optimal health management. It is essential to adjust both insulin therapy and carbohydrate intake according to the type, intensity, and duration of physical activity and to learn how to adjust and utilize the used technology accordingly.

Patients are strongly advised to plan ahead and prepare for exercise by monitoring glucose levels, adjusting insulin dosages, and preparing or ingesting appropriate carbohydrate sources. Ideally, planning should begin approximately two hours prior to the initiation of the workout, including the evaluation of active insulin and glucose trends.

In instances where blood glucose levels fall below 5 mmol/L or exceed 13.9 mmol/L, exercise should be avoided for the time being and counter measurements initiated.

The emphasis is on the implementation of more frequent blood glucose testing, at shorter intervals before, during, and after exercise. Therefore, the utilization of continuous glucose monitoring (CGM) is strongly recommended to enhance safety and to more effectively track glucose dynamics. CGMs have the capacity to facilitate real-time data analysis, thereby reducing the psychological distress associated with hypoglycemic anxiety, particularly in the context of unscheduled activities.

References

1. Kahkoska AR, Dabelea D. Diabetes in Youth. Endocrinology and Metabolism Clinics of North America. 2021 Sep;50(3):491–512.

2. Ogrotis I, Koufakis T, Kotsa K. Changes in the Global Epidemiology of Type 1 Diabetes in an Evolving Landscape of Environmental Factors: Causes, Challenges, and Opportunities. Medicina. 2023 Mar 28;59(4):668.

3. Infante M, Baidal DA, Rickels MR, Fabbri A, Skyler JS, Alejandro R, et al. Dualhormone artificial pancreas for management of type 1 diabetes: Recent progress and future directions. Artif Organs. 2021 Sep;45(9):968–86.

4. McCarthy OM, Kristensen KB, Christensen MB, Schmidt S, Ranjan AG, Nicholas C, et al. Metabolic and physiological responses to graded exercise testing in individuals with type 1 diabetes using insulin pump therapy. Diabetes Obes Metab. 2023 Mar;25(3):878–88.

 Zaharieva DP, Morrison D, Paldus B, Lal RA, Buckingham BA, O'Neal DN. Practical Aspects and Exercise Safety Benefits of Automated Insulin Delivery Systems in Type 1 Diabetes. Diabetes Spectr. 2023 May;36(2):127–36.

6. Pongrac Barlovic D, Harjutsalo V, Groop PH. Exercise and nutrition in type 1 diabetes: Insights from the FinnDiane cohort. Front Endocrinol. 2022 Dec 22;13:1064185.

7. Huerta-Uribe N, Hormazábal-Aguayo IA, Izquierdo M, García-Hermoso A. Youth with type 1 diabetes mellitus are more inactive and sedentary than apparently healthy peers: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice. 2023 Jun;200:110697.

 Khalafi M, Dinizadeh F, Rosenkranz SK, Symonds ME, Fatolahi S. The Effects of Exercise Training on Body Composition and Cardiometabolic Risk Factors in Type 1 Diabetes Mellitus: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Healthcare. 2025 Jan 26;13(3):246.

9. Riddell MC, Li Z, Beck RW, Gal RL, Jacobs PG, Castle JR, et al. More Time in Glucose Range During Exercise Days than Sedentary Days in Adults Living with Type 1 Diabetes. Diabetes Technology & Therapeutics. 2021 May 1;23(5):376–83.

 Lazić A, Stanković D, Trajković N, Cadenas-Sanchez C. Effects of HIIT Interventions on Cardiorespiratory Fitness and Glycemic Parameters in Adults with Type 1 Diabetes: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Sports Med. 2024 Oct;54(10):2645–61.

 Helleputte S, Yardley JE, Scott SN, Stautemas J, Jansseune L, Marlier J, et al. Effects of postprandial exercise on blood glucose levels in adults with type 1 diabetes: a review. Diabetologia. 2023 Jul;66(7):1179–91. Zahalka SJ, Abushamat LA, Scalzo RL, Reusch JEB. The Role of Exercise in Diabetes. In: Feingold KR, Ahmed SF, Anawalt B, Blackman MR, Boyce A, Chrousos G, et al., editors. Endotext [Internet]. South Dartmouth (MA): MDText.com, Inc.; 2000 [cited 2025 Apr 9]. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK549946/

13. Chang X, Wang Z, Guo H, Xu Y, Ogihara A. Effect of Physical Activity/Exercise on Cardiorespiratory Fitness in Children and Adolescents with Type 1 Diabetes: A Scoping Review. IJERPH. 2023 Jan 12;20(2):1407.

14. King KM, Jaggers JR, Della LJ, McKay T, Watson S, Kozerski AE, et al. Association between Physical Activity and Sport Participation on Hemoglobin A1c Among Children and Adolescents with Type 1 Diabetes. IJERPH. 2021 Jul 14;18(14):7490.

 Bohn B, Herbst A, Pfeifer M, Krakow D, Zimny S, Kopp F, et al. Impact of Physical Activity on Glycemic Control and Prevalence of Cardiovascular Risk Factors in Adults With Type 1 Diabetes: A Cross-sectional Multicenter Study of 18,028 Patients. Diabetes Care. 2015 Aug;38(8):1536–43.

Boff W, Da Silva AM, Farinha JB, Rodrigues-Krause J, Reischak-Oliveira A,
 Tschiedel B, et al. Superior Effects of High-Intensity Interval vs. Moderate-Intensity
 Continuous Training on Endothelial Function and Cardiorespiratory Fitness in Patients With
 Type 1 Diabetes: A Randomized Controlled Trial. Front Physiol. 2019 Apr 24;10:450.

17. Alarcón-Gómez J, Chulvi-Medrano I, Martin-Rivera F, Calatayud J. Effect of High-Intensity Interval Training on Quality of Life, Sleep Quality, Exercise Motivation and Enjoyment in Sedentary People with Type 1 Diabetes Mellitus. IJERPH. 2021 Nov 30;18(23):12612.

18. Colberg SR, Sigal RJ, Yardley JE, Riddell MC, Dunstan DW, Dempsey PC, et al. Physical Activity/Exercise and Diabetes: A Position Statement of the American Diabetes Association. Diabetes Care. 2016 Nov;39(11):2065–79.

19. www.heart.org [Internet]. [cited 2025 Apr 9]. American Heart Association
Recommendations for Physical Activity in Adults and Kids. Available from:
https://www.heart.org/en/healthy-living/fitness/fitness-basics/aha-recs-for-physical-activity-in-adults

20. García-Hermoso A, Ezzatvar Y, Huerta-Uribe N, Alonso-Martínez AM, Chueca-Guindulain MJ, Berrade-Zubiri S, et al. Effects of exercise training on glycaemic control in youths with type 1 diabetes: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. European Journal of Sport Science. 2023 Jun;23(6):1056–67.

21. McGarrah RW, Slentz CA, Kraus WE. The Effect of Vigorous- Versus Moderate-

Intensity Aerobic Exercise on Insulin Action. Curr Cardiol Rep. 2016 Dec;18(12):117.

22. Tan S, Gunendi Z, Meray J, Yetkin İ. The evaluation of muscle strength and architecture in type 1 diabetes mellitus: a cross-sectional study. BMC Endocr Disord. 2022 Dec;22(1):153.

23. Espino-Gonzalez E, Dalbram E, Mounier R, Gondin J, Farup J, Jessen N, et al. Impaired skeletal muscle regeneration in diabetes: From cellular and molecular mechanisms to novel treatments. Cell Metabolism. 2024 Jun;36(6):1204–36.

24. Stehno-Bittel L. Organ-Based Response to Exercise in Type 1 Diabetes. ISRN Endocrinology. 2012 Dec 2;2012:1–14.

25. Lima VDAD, Menezes FJD, Celli LDR, França SN, Cordeiro GR, Mascarenhas LPG, et al. Effects of resistance training on the glycemic control of people with type 1 diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Archives of Endocrinology and Metabolism [Internet]. 2022 Jun 27 [cited 2025 Apr 2]; Available from: https://www.aem-sbem.com/article/effects-of-resistance-training-on-the-glycemic-control-of-people-with-type-1-diabetes-a-systematic-review-and-meta-analysis/

26. Minnock D, Annibalini G, Valli G, Saltarelli R, Krause M, Barbieri E, et al. Altered muscle mitochondrial, inflammatory and trophic markers, and reduced exercise training adaptations in type 1 diabetes. The Journal of Physiology. 2022 Mar;600(6):1405–18.

27. Nazari M, Shabani R, Dalili S. The effect of concurrent resistance-aerobic training on serum cortisol level, anxiety, and quality of life in pediatric type 1 diabetes. Journal of Pediatric Endocrinology and Metabolism. 2020 May 26;33(5):599–604.

28. Atakan MM, Li Y, Koşar ŞN, Turnagöl HH, Yan X. Evidence-Based Effects of High-Intensity Interval Training on Exercise Capacity and Health: A Review with Historical Perspective. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2021 Jul 5;18(13):7201.

29. Farinha JB, Boff W, Dos Santos GC, Boeno FP, Ramis TR, Vieira AF, et al. Acute glycemic responses along 10-week high-intensity training protocols in type 1 diabetes patients. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2019 Jul;153:111–3.

30. MacInnis MJ, Gibala MJ. Physiological adaptations to interval training and the role of exercise intensity. J Physiol. 2017 May 1;595(9):2915–30.

31. Molveau J, Rabasa-Lhoret R, Taleb N, Heyman E, Myette-Côté É, Suppère C, et al. Minimizing the Risk of Exercise-Induced Glucose Fluctuations in People Living With Type 1 Diabetes Using Continuous Subcutaneous Insulin Infusion: An Overview of Strategies. Canadian Journal of Diabetes. 2021 Oct;45(7):666–76.

32. Mallad A, Hinshaw L, Schiavon M, Dalla Man C, Dadlani V, Basu R, et al. Exercise

effects on postprandial glucose metabolism in type 1 diabetes: a triple-tracer approach. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. 2015 Jun 15;308(12):E1106-1115.

33. Cockcroft EJ, Narendran P, Andrews RC. Exercise-induced hypoglycaemia in type 1 diabetes. Experimental Physiology. 2020 Apr;105(4):590–9.

34. Lee MH, Vogrin S, Paldus B, Jayawardene D, Jones HM, McAuley SA, et al. Glucose and Counterregulatory Responses to Exercise in Adults With Type 1 Diabetes and Impaired Awareness of Hypoglycemia Using Closed-Loop Insulin Delivery: A Randomized Crossover Study. Diabetes Care. 2020 Feb;43(2):480–3.

35. Martin-Rivera F, Maroto-Izquierdo S, García-López D, Alarcón-Gómez J. Exercise interventions for patients with type 1 diabetes mellitus: A narrative review with practical recommendations. World J Diabetes. 2023 May 15;14(5):539–48.

36. Martins TBF de S, Gomes OV, Soltani P, Oliveira THR, de Brito-Gomes JL. Sex-Related Glycemic and Cardiovascular Responses After Continuous and Interval Aerobic Sessions in Patients With Type 1 Diabetes: A Randomized Crossover Study. Am J Cardiol. 2024 Oct 1;228:48–55.

37. García-García F, Kumareswaran K, Hovorka R, Hernando ME. Quantifying the acute changes in glucose with exercise in type 1 diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Sports Med. 2015 Apr;45(4):587–99.

38. Da Prato G, Pasquini S, Rinaldi E, Lucianer T, Donà S, Santi L, et al. Accuracy of CGM Systems During Continuous and Interval Exercise in Adults with Type 1 Diabetes. J Diabetes Sci Technol. 2022 Nov;16(6):1436–43.

39. Martín-San Agustín R, Cuerda Del Pino A, Laguna Sanz AJ, Palanca A, Rossetti P, Marco Romero C, et al. Impact of High-Intensity Interval Exercise With Elastic Bands Versus Continuous Moderate-Intensity Aerobic Exercise on Glycemic Control in People With Type 1 Diabetes. Sports Health. 2025 Feb 4;19417381251316247.

40. Moser O, Zaharieva DP, Adolfsson P, Battelino T, Bracken RM, Buckingham BA, et al. The use of automated insulin delivery around physical activity and exercise in type 1 diabetes: a position statement of the European Association for the Study of Diabetes (EASD) and the International Society for Pediatric and Adolescent Diabetes (ISPAD). Diabetologia. 2025 Feb;68(2):255–80.

41. American Diabetes Association Professional Practice Committee, ElSayed NA, Aleppo G, Bannuru RR, Beverly EA, Bruemmer D, et al. 5. Facilitating Positive Health Behaviors and Well-being to Improve Health Outcomes: *Standards of Care in Diabetes*— 2024. Diabetes Care. 2024 Jan 1;47(Supplement 1):S77–110. 42. Marlow AL, King BR, Trost SG, Weaver N, Smart CE. Healthy weight and overweight adolescents with type 1 diabetes mellitus do not meet recommendations for daily physical activity and sleep. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2023 Sep;203:110879.

43. Patience M, Janssen X, Kirk A, McCrory S, Russell E, Hodgson W, et al. 24-Hour Movement Behaviours (Physical Activity, Sedentary Behaviour and Sleep) Association with Glycaemic Control and Psychosocial Outcomes in Adolescents with Type 1 Diabetes: A Systematic Review of Quantitative and Qualitative Studies. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2023 Feb 28;20(5).

44. Reinauer C, Tittel SR, Müller-Stierlin A, Baumeister H, Warschburger P, Klauser K, et al. Outpatient screening for anxiety and depression symptoms in adolescents with type 1 diabetes - a cross-sectional survey. Child Adolesc Psychiatry Ment Health. 2023 Dec 21;17(1):142.

45. Cigrovski Berkovic M, Bilic-Curcic I, La Grasta Sabolic L, Mrzljak A, Cigrovski V. Fear of hypoglycemia, a game changer during physical activity in type 1 diabetes mellitus patients. World J Diabetes. 2021 May 15;12(5):569–77.

46. Nguyen TTP, Jacobs PG, Castle JR, Wilson LM, Kuehl K, Branigan D, et al. Separating insulin-mediated and non-insulin-mediated glucose uptake during and after aerobic exercise in type 1 diabetes. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. 2021 Mar 1;320(3):E425–37.

47. Sherr JL, Bergford S, Gal RL, Clements MA, Patton SR, Calhoun P, et al. Exploring Factors That Influence Postexercise Glycemia in Youth With Type 1 Diabetes in the Real World: The Type 1 Diabetes Exercise Initiative Pediatric (T1DEXIP) Study. Diabetes Care. 2024 May 1;47(5):849–57.

48. Tonoli C, Heyman E, Roelands B, Buyse L, Piacentini F, Berthoin S, et al. BDNF, IGF-I, Glucose and Insulin during Continuous and Interval Exercise in Type 1 Diabetes. Int J Sports Med. 2015 Nov;36(12):955–9.

49. McCarthy O, Eckstein ML, Scott SN, Fontana FY, Christiansen MP, Stettler C, et al. Glycemic responses to strenuous training in male professional cyclists with type 1 diabetes: a prospective observational study. BMJ Open Diabetes Res Care. 2020 Apr;8(1).

50. Molveau J, Rabasa-Lhoret R, Myette-Côté É, Messier V, Suppère C, J. Potter K, et al. Prevalence of nocturnal hypoglycemia in free-living conditions in adults with type 1 diabetes: What is the impact of daily physical activity? Front Endocrinol. 2022 Sep 27;13:953879.

51. Molveau J, Rabasa-Lhoret R, Myette-Côté É, Messier V, Suppère C, J Potter K, et al. Prevalence of nocturnal hypoglycemia in free-living conditions in adults with type 1 diabetes: What is the impact of daily physical activity? Front Endocrinol (Lausanne). 2022;13:953879. 52. McCarthy O, Pitt J, Churm R, Dunseath GJ, Jones C, Bally L, et al. Metabolomic, hormonal and physiological responses to hypoglycemia versus euglycemia during exercise in adults with type 1 diabetes. BMJ Open Diabetes Res Care. 2020 Oct;8(1).

53. Vlcek C, Greenberg D, Yardley JE, Klaprat N, MacIntosh A, Greenberg M, et al. "How we do it": A qualitative study of strategies for adopting an exercise routine while living with type 1 diabetes. Front Endocrinol. 2023 Jan 5;13:1063859.

54. Zahed K, Sasangohar F, Mehta R, Erraguntla M, Qaraqe K. Diabetes Management
Experience and the State of Hypoglycemia: National Online Survey Study. JMIR Diabetes.
2020 Jun 17;5(2):e17890.

55. Cyranka K, Dudek D, Małecki MT, Klupa T. "Fighting spirit": specific personality traits as one of the key factors for sport championship in type 1 diabetes mellitus. Diabetol Int. 2021 Jul;12(3):317–23.

56. Riddell MC, Gallen IW, Smart CE, Taplin CE, Adolfsson P, Lumb AN, et al. Exercise management in type 1 diabetes: a consensus statement. The Lancet Diabetes & Endocrinology. 2017 May;5(5):377–90.

57. van Weenen E, Banholzer N, Föll S, Zueger T, Fontana FY, Skroce K, et al. Glycaemic patterns of male professional athletes with type 1 diabetes during exercise, recovery and sleep: Retrospective, observational study over an entire competitive season. Diabetes Obes Metab. 2023 Sep;25(9):2616–25.

58. Yardley JE, Sigal RJ. Exercise Strategies for Hypoglycemia Prevention in Individuals With Type 1 Diabetes. Diabetes Spectrum. 2015 Feb 1;28(1):32–8.

59. McGuire B, Dadah H, Oliver D. The effects of acute hyperglycaemia on sports and exercise performance in type 1 diabetes: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport. 2024 Feb;27(2):78–85.

60. Zaharieva DP, Riddell MC. Prevention of Exercise-Associated Dysglycemia: A Case Study–Based Approach. Diabetes Spectrum. 2015 Feb 1;28(1):55–62.

61. Romeres D, Olson K, Carter R, Cobelli C, Dalla Man C, Basu A, et al. Hyperglycemia But Not Hyperinsulinemia Is Favorable for Exercise in Type 1 Diabetes: A Pilot Study. Diabetes Care. 2020 Sep;43(9):2176–82.

62. Sawyer B, Hilliard E, Hackney KJ, Stastny S. Barriers and Strategies for Type 1 Diabetes Management Among Emerging Adults: A Qualitative Study. Clin Med Insights Endocrinol Diabetes. 2022;15:11795514221098389.

63. Colberg SR. Nutrition and Exercise Performance in Adults With Type 1 Diabetes. Canadian Journal of Diabetes. 2020 Dec;44(8):750–8. 64. Moser O, Riddell MC, Eckstein ML, Adolfsson P, Rabasa-Lhoret R, van den Boom L, et al. Glucose management for exercise using continuous glucose monitoring (CGM) and intermittently scanned CGM (isCGM) systems in type 1 diabetes: position statement of the European Association for the Study of Diabetes (EASD) and of the International Society for Pediatric and Adolescent Diabetes (ISPAD) endorsed by JDRF and supported by the American Diabetes Association (ADA). Diabetologia. 2020 Dec;63(12):2501–20.

Gitsi E, Livadas S, Angelopoulos N, Paparodis RD, Raftopoulou M, ArgyrakopoulouG. A Nutritional Approach to Optimizing Pump Therapy in Type 1 Diabetes Mellitus.Nutrients. 2023 Nov 23;15(23).

66. Pereira WVC, Vancea DMM, De Andrade Oliveira R, De Freitas YGPC, Lamounier RN, Silva Júnior WS, et al. 2022: Position of Brazilian Diabetes Society on exercise recommendations for people with type 1 and type 2 diabetes. Diabetol Metab Syndr. 2023 Jan 2;15(1):2.

67. Patton SR, Bergford S, Sherr JL, Gal RL, Calhoun P, Clements MA, et al.
Postprandial Glucose Variability Following Typical Meals in Youth Living with Type 1
Diabetes. Nutrients. 2024 Jan 4;16(1):162.

68. Cartee GD. Mechanisms for greater insulin-stimulated glucose uptake in normal and insulin-resistant skeletal muscle after acute exercise. American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology and Metabolism. 2015 Dec 15;309(12):E949–59.

69. Margolis LM, Allen JT, Hatch-McChesney A, Pasiakos SM. Coingestion of
Carbohydrate and Protein on Muscle Glycogen Synthesis after Exercise: A Meta-analysis.
Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2021 Feb 1;53(2):384–93.

70. McCarthy O, Deere R, Eckstein ML, Pitt J, Wellman B, Bain SC, et al. Improved Nocturnal Glycaemia and Reduced Insulin Use Following Clinical Exercise Trial Participation in Individuals With Type 1 Diabetes. Front Public Health. 2020;8:568832.

71. McCarthy O, Deere R, Churm R, Dunseath GJ, Jones C, Eckstein ML, et al. Extent and prevalence of post-exercise and nocturnal hypoglycemia following peri-exercise bolus insulin adjustments in individuals with type 1 diabetes. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis. 2021 Jan 4;31(1):227–36.

72. Myette-Côté É, Molveau J, Wu Z, Raffray M, Devaux M, Tagougui S, et al. A Randomized Crossover Pilot Study Evaluating Glucose Control During Exercise Initiated 1 or 2 h After a Meal in Adults with Type 1 Diabetes Treated with an Automated Insulin Delivery System. Diabetes Technology & Therapeutics. 2023 Feb 1;25(2):122–30.

73. Moser O, Dietrich M, McCarthy O, Bracken RM, Eckstein ML. Bolus insulin dose

depends on previous-day race intensity during 5 days of professional road-cycle racing in athletes with type 1 diabetes: A prospective observational study. Diabetes Obes Metab. 2020 Oct;22(10):1714–21.

74. Shahar J, Hamdy O. Medication and exercise interactions: considering and managing hypoglycemia risk. Diabetes Spectr. 2015 Jan;28(1):64–7.

75. Roy-Fleming A, Taleb N, Messier V, Suppère C, Cameli C, Elbekri S, et al. Timing of insulin basal rate reduction to reduce hypoglycemia during late post-prandial exercise in adults with type 1 diabetes using insulin pump therapy: A randomized crossover trial. Diabetes & Metabolism. 2019 Jun;45(3):294–300.

76. Franc S, Daoudi A, Pochat A, Petit M -H., Randazzo C, Petit C, et al. Insulin-based strategies to prevent hypoglycaemia during and after exercise in adult patients with type 1 diabetes on pump therapy: the DIABRASPORT randomized study. Diabetes Obesity Metabolism. 2015 Dec;17(12):1150–7.

77. Campbell MD, Walker M, Bracken RM, Turner D, Stevenson EJ, Gonzalez JT, et al. Insulin therapy and dietary adjustments to normalize glycemia and prevent nocturnal hypoglycemia after evening exercise in type 1 diabetes: a randomized controlled trial. BMJ Open Diabetes Res Care. 2015;3(1):e000085.

78. Thabit H, Lal R, Leelarathna L. Automated insulin dosing systems: Advances after a century of insulin. Diabet Med. 2021 Dec;38(12):e14695.

79. Bombaci B, Passanisi S, Valenzise M, Macrì F, Calderone M, Hasaj S, et al. Real-World Performance of First- Versus Second-Generation Automated Insulin Delivery Systems on a Pediatric Population With Type 1 Diabetes: A One-Year Observational Study. J Diabetes Sci Technol. 2025 Jan;19(1):98–104.

80. Jabari M. Efficacy and safety of closed-loop control system for type one diabetes in adolescents a meta analysis. Sci Rep. 2023 Aug 13;13(1):13165.

81. Gordon CA, Graf M, Hopley CD, Jennings PJ, Littlewood M. Time to Initiation of Omnipod DASH® vs. Tubed Insulin Pump Therapy: A Time-and-Motion Study. Diabetes Ther. 2025 Apr;16(4):629–44.

82. Kulzer B, Freckmann G, Heinemann L, Schnell O, Hinzmann R, Ziegler R. Patch Pumps: What are the advantages for people with diabetes? Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice. 2022 May;187:109858.

83. Stocco A, Trawley S, Kong YW, Yuan CY, Kiburg K, Pham C, et al. "You can hide it if you want to, you can let it be seen if you want to": A qualitative study of the lived experiences of Australian adults with type 1 diabetes using the Omnipod DASH® system.

Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2024 Feb;208:111123.

84. Daskalaki E, Parkinson A, Brew-Sam N, Hossain MZ, O'Neal D, Nolan CJ, et al. The Potential of Current Noninvasive Wearable Technology for the Monitoring of Physiological Signals in the Management of Type 1 Diabetes: Literature Survey. J Med Internet Res. 2022 Apr 8;24(4):e28901.

85. Vosoughi R, Sadeghi Goghari Z, Jafari AH. Modelling System of Two Insulin-Glucose Delays to Achieve the Dynamics of Glucose Changes. J Biomed Phys Eng. 2022 Apr;12(2):189–204.

Askari MR, Ahmadasas M, Shahidehpour A, Rashid M, Quinn L, Park M, et al.
 Multivariable Automated Insulin Delivery System for Handling Planned and Spontaneous
 Physical Activities. J Diabetes Sci Technol. 2023 Nov;17(6):1456–69.

87. McGaugh SM, Edwards S, Wolpert H, Zaharieva DP, Gulati N, Riddell MC. The Development of an Exercise Advisor App for Type 1 Diabetes: Digitization Facilitates More Individualized Guidance. J Diabetes Sci Technol. 2022 May;16(3):760–3.

88. Morrow D, Kirk A, Muirhead F, Lennon M. Letting the World See through Your Eyes: Using Photovoice to Explore the Role of Technology in Physical Activity for Adolescents Living with Type 1 Diabetes. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2022 May 23;19(10).

89. Hormazábal-Aguayo I, Muñoz-Pardeza J, López-Gil JF, Huerta-Uribe N, Chueca-Guindulain MJ, Berrade-Zubiri S, et al. Comprehensive management of children and adolescents with type 1 diabetes mellitus through personalized physical exercise and education using an mHealth system: The Diactive-1 study protocol. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne). 2024;15:1354734.

90. Shetty VB, Fried L, Roby HC, Soon WHK, Nguyen R, Ong A, et al. Development of a Novel Mobile Health App to Empower Young People With Type 1 Diabetes to Exercise Safely: Co-Design Approach. JMIR Diabetes. 2024 Jul 30;9:e51491.

Supplementary

Supplementary Table 1: Overview of key findings concerning glycemic response to exercise					
Re f. no.	Author(s)	Year	Type of Exercise	Outcome	
8	Khalafi et al.	2025	Physical activity, undefined	 Regular exercise led to reduction in fasting glucose [weighted mean difference = - 14.97 mg/dl (-0.83 mmol/l)] And HbA1c [weighted mean difference= - 0.49%] 	
9	Riddell et al.	2021	Physical activity, undefined	 mean glucose levels on days of exercise: 8.66 ± 2.50 mmol/l compared to 9.21 ± 2.72 mmol/l on sedentary days TIR was 6% higher, TBR was 2,9% higher and TAR was 14% lower on exercise days 	
10	Lazić et al.	2024	HIIT vs. Control group, HIIT vs. moderate- intensity continuous training	 HIIT was associated with significant improvements in 24-h mean glucose control HIIT showed positive effects on reduction of HbA1c compared to control group (standardized mean difference= -0.74) 	
11	Helleputte et al.	2023	Continuous moderate intensity training, continuous high intensity training, HIIT, interval training, walking exercise	 All exercise types caused consistent acute glycemic declines Largest effect could be observed in the continuous high intensity training group Effects on glycemic parameters were pending on duration and intensity of exercise 	
13	Chang et al.	2023	Physical activity, undefined	 5 of the 9 analyzed studies showed a significant decrease in HbA1c after a long training period 3 described no significant difference in HbA1c after physical activity 	
14	King et al.	2021	Physical activity, undefined	- Physical activity of 60 minutes at least 3 times per week led to a significant reduction in HbA1c levels in children and adolescents	
15	Bohn et al.	2015	Physical activity, undefined; patients were stratified into 3 groups according to the	 Physical activity led to a reduction in HbA1c levels Physical inactive patients: mean HbA1c= 8.20% (n=10978) Physical activity performed 1 to 2 times per week: HbA1c= 7.92% (n=3396) Physical activity performed more than 2 times per week: HbA1c= 7.84% (n=3168) 	

			frequency of physical activity	
20	García- Hermoso et al.	2023	Different exercise types compared to control groups	 HbA1c levels were overall reduced in exercise groups compared to control groups Reductions in HbA1c were stronger in high intensity and concurrent training groups compared to other exercise modalities Interventions lasting longer than 24 weeks, with more than 3 sessions per week and a duration over 60 minutes per session showed lower HbA1c levels compared to other exercise modalities
25	Lima et al.	2022	Resistance training	- A significant reduction in HbA1c levels was observed in patients undergoing resistance training compared to a control group
26	Minnock et al.	2022	12 weeks of combined resistance and aerobic training	 Better glucose control, reduced glycaemic fluctuations and fewer hypoglycaemic events were recorded at post- compared to pre-intervention in type 1 diabetes Interstitial glucose variance was higher in Type 1 diabetics compared to healthy control
29	Farinha et al.	2019	HIIT vs. strength training vs. strength and HIIT training (10-week training protocol with intervention 3 times per week)	 HIIT sessions led to lower rate of change in glycemia in most weeks than other training protocols All 10-week training protocols decreased similarly HbA1 levels
32	Mallad et al.	2015	75 min of moderate- intensity exercise	 Glucose levels gradually fell during exercise Baseline glucose levels were reached at the end of exercise
34	Lee et al.	2020	45 min of HIIT vs. moderate- intensity exercise in random order	- Glucose TIR measured with a CGM device was similar for both exercise types (79.5% vs. 76.1%; p=0.37)
36	Martins et al.	2024	Interval aerobic exercise vs. continuous aerobic exercise	 Men showed reduced blood glucose values after both training types (-3.7mmol/l and - 1.6 mmol/l) Women showed reduced blood glucose levels only after continuous aerobic exercise (-1.4 mmol/l)

				- The decrease in BG was higher for men after continuous aerobic exercise compared to interval aerobic exercise
37	García- García et al.	2015	Continuous moderate exercise vs. HIIT vs. resistance training	 Rate of change in glucose concentrations (RoCE): -4.43 mmol/l·h for continuous training vs. resistance training RoCE: -5.25 mmol/l·h for HIIT vs. resistance training
38	Da Prato et al.	2022	Moderate continuous (CON) vs. interval exercise (IE)	 Both average plasma and interstitial glucose concentrations did not significantly differ during CON and IE plasma glucose change at the end of exercise was greater during CON than during IE (-2.51 ± 2.36 mmol/l vs -1.38 ± 2.2 mmol/l) interstitial glucose change showed a trend to be greater during CON than during IE although the difference did not reach statistical significance (-1.93 ± 1.94 mmol/l vs -1.19 ± 1.52 mmol/l, p = 0.060)
39	Martín-San Agustín et al.	2025	HIIT with elastic bands (EB-HIIE) vs. moderate- intensity exercise (CONT)	 CONT led to significantly lower blood glucose levels than EB-HIIE, with notable differences during exercise (-1.95 mmol/l), at the end (-2.75 mmol/l), and at 10- and 20-minutes post-exercise (-2.85 mmol/l and -2.55mmol/l). EB-HIIE: TIR of 68.6% and minimal incidence of level 1 hypoglycemia (<1%) CONT: TIR of 62.8% and a 16.9% incidence of level 1 hypoglycemia EB-HIIE resulted in more stable glucose levels during and post-exercise
40	Moser et al.	2025	Continuous aerobic exercise vs. mixed mixed vs. anaerobic exercise	- Outcome summarized in Figure 6

Abbreviations: HIIT = High-Intensity Interval Training; TIR = Time in Range, TBR = Time Below Range; TAR = Time Above Range; EB-HIIE = Elastic Band High-Intensity Interval Exercise; CON = Continuous Exercise; IE = Interval Exercise; RoCE = Rate of Change in Glucose

	Supplementary	Table	2: Overview of nutrition dur	recommendations on carbohydrate intake and ring physical exercise
Re f. no.	Author(s)	Year	Type of Exercise	Recommendations on carbohydrate intake
31	Molveau et al.	2021	Physical exercise, undefined	 consuming a postexercise snack as well as a bedtime snack recommended amount of carbohydrate intake for activities lasting from 30 to 60 minutes range widely from 10 to 15 g/h of activity for athletes to 15 to 30 g/0.5h for recreational activities with a glucose threshold of 7.0 mmol/l associated with a horizontal trend arrow, 10 to 15 g of carbohydrates should be consumed
56	Riddell et al.	2017	Aerobic exercise and HIIT	 starting range for most patients doing aerobic exercise lasting up to an hour is 7–10 mmol/l Concentrations higher than 7–10 mmol/l might be acceptable in some situations where added protection against hypoglycaemia is needed Anaerobic exercise and a high intensity interval training session can be initiated with a lower starting glucose concentration (~5–7 mmol/l) Before exercise: A minimum of 1 g carbohydrate per kg bodyweight according to exercise intensity and type If blood glucose concentration is less than 5 mmol/l before exercise ingest 10–20 g carbohydrate under low insulin conditions If blood glucose concentration is less than 5 mmol/l before exercise ingest 20–30 g carbohydrate under high insulin conditions If starting glucose values are at target levels or slightly above target levels, exercise can be started immediately Carbohydrate intake depends on intensity and duration of exercise
63	Colberg SR.	2020	Aerobic and anaerobic exercise	 For most regularly training individuals, daily protein requirements are roughly 1.1 to 1.5 g of protein per kilogram of weight optimal starting blood glucose: 3.9 to 10.0 mmol/l for most activities <5.0 mmol/l: Ingest 15–30 g of fast-acting carbohydrate before start of exercise 5.0-8.3 mmol/l: Start consuming carbohydrate at the onset of most exercise (~0.5–1.0 g/kg body mass per hour of exercise) 8.3-13.9 mmol/l: Initiate exercise

				- >13.9 mmol/l: Test for ketones and do not start
64	Moser et al.	2020	Physical activity, undefined	 during exercise sensor glucose ranges should be between 7.0-10.0 mmol/l (higher for increased risk of hypoglycemia) 7.0 mmol/l during exercise: accompanied by horizontal trend arrow → 10-15g of carbohydrates should be consumed; downward trend arrow → 15-35g should be consumed >15.0mmol/l during exercise: test for ketones, insulin correction might be needed if blood glucose <4.4mmol/l after exercise, consume 10-15 g of carbohydrates
65	Gitsi et al.	2023	Physical activity, undefined	 -Incorporate additional glucose supplementation and/or insulin reduction for longer-duration, moderate-intensity exercise compared to short, high-intensity training For hypoglycemia prevention or treatment, consider a pre-exercise carbohydrate dose adjustment of 15 g/h for optimal results in case of low glucose levels or a downward trend, consider consuming high glucose index carbohydrates (sugar, honey, corn syrup)
66	Pereira et al.	2023	-	Outcome shown in Figure 7
69	Margolis et al.	2021	Physical exercise, undefined	- Glycogen synthesis rates are enhanced when carbohydrates and proteins are co-ingested after exercise compared with carbohydrates only when the added energy of protein is consumed in addition to, not in place of, carbohydrate
76	Franc et al.	2015	Two moderate and two intense 30 minutes sessions of aerobic exercise	- 3 hours post lunch exercise is considered safe

Abbreviation: HIIT = High-Intensity Interval Training

Supplementary Table 3: Summary of recommendations for adjusting insulin during							
physical exercise							
Ref.	Authors	Year	Type of	Recommendations on insulin dose			
no.			Exercise	adjustments			

31	Molveau et.	2021	Physixal	- Pending on intensity and duration of
	al		exercise	physical activity recommended bolus
			undefined	insulin dose reduction: 25%-75%
				- reducing insulin basal rate by 20% in the
				early evening (e.g. up to 3:00 AM) for
				approximately 6 hours and/or consuming a
				postexercise snack as well as a bedtime
64	Magar at al	2020	Dhygical	Montime insulin daga raduation from 25%
04	Moser et al.	2020	Physical	to 75% before exercise
			undefined	- Bolus insulin dose reduction based on
			undermed	individual glucose response
65	Gitsi et al.	2023	Aerobic	- Basal insulin dose reduction of 50%-80%
			exercise	- Bolus insulin dose reduction of 30%-50%
66	Pereira et	2023	Physical	- Outcome shown in Figure 8
	al.		exercise,	
70		2020	undefined	
/0	McCarthy	2020	45 minutes of	- Significant reduction in basal and basal
	et al.		intonsity	nsulin dose requirements from pre-to-
			continuous	post-study involvement
			exercise	
71	McCarthy	2021	45 minutes	- Pre exercise and post exercise bolus dose
	et al.		aerobic	reduction of 50% led to a decreased risk of
			exercise	hypoglycemia both during exercise and at
				night
72	Myette-	2023	60 min or 120	- Bolus insulin dose reduction of 33% before
	Côté et al.		min of	exercise was considered safe in both
			moderate	groups
			aerobic	
			exercise	
73	Moser et al.	2020	Road cycling	- Bolus insulin dose reductions were
			race over a 5-	considered safe
			day period	- Basal insulin dose was not adjusted over
				the course of 5 days
74	Shahar &	2015	Physical	- Bolus insulin dose reduction of 25 to 75%
	Hamdy		activity,	one to two hours before planned exercise
			undefined	pending on intensity and duration of
75	D	2010	45	
75	Roy- Elaming at	2019	45 min aerobic	- Basal insulin dose reduction of 80% up to
	al		comparison of	to reduce everyise-induced hypoglycemia
	a1.		basal insulin	to reduce excretse-induced hypogrycenna
			dose reduction	
			of 80% 40.20	
			and 0 minutes	
			before exercise	

76	Franc et al.	2015	Two moderate and two intense 30 minutes sessions of aerobic exercise	 Bolus insulin dose reduction of 30%-50% for exercise lasting over 30 min within 60- 90 min after a meal Basal insulin dose reduction of 50%-80% Less hypoglycemic events with 80% Basal insulin dose reduction compared to 50%
77	Campbell et al.	2015	45 min of treadmill running 60 minutes after carbohydrate intake	 Basal insulin dose reduction of 20% prevented from nocturnal hypoglycemia Bolus insulin dose reduction of 75% before exercise and 50% after exercise were considered safe